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C O N T E N T S

Rose Tyler being attacked by
an Auton.

This article is written from 
a real world point of view

You may be looking for the title character Rose Tyler.

Rose was the first episode of the first series of the revived series of Doctor

Who. It was the first new episode of Doctor Who since the 1996 telemovie.

It marked the debut of Christopher Eccleston as the Ninth Doctor, Billie

Piper as Rose Tyler, and recurring supporting cast Camille Coduri as

Jackie Tyler and Noel Clarke as Mickey Smith.

The first Doctor Who story to be produced in widescreen, it was also the

first single-episode, forty-five minute story. Amongst BBC Wales-

produced episodes, it was not only the first broadcast, but also the first

recorded. It was the Doctor Who debut for almost everyone who worked

on it — except for model unit supervisor Mike Tucker.

Narratively, it marked the return of the Nestene Consciousness and

Autons for the first time since 1971's Terror of the Autons . It also saw the

first reference to the Shadow Proclamation.

S Y N O P S I S
When Rose Tyler meets a mysterious stranger called the Doctor, her life

will never be the same again. Soon, she realises that her mum, her

boyfriend and the whole of planet Earth are in danger. The only hope of

salvation lies inside a strange blue box.

P L O T
At 7:30am in the Powell Estate, London, a blonde, nineteen year old girl,

Rose Tyler, wakes up, gets dressed and ready, kisses her mother, Jackie

Tyler, goodbye and walks to Henrik's,

the department store where she

works. After spending her lunch break with her boyfriend, Mickey Smith, who

shows her his break dance steps, she returns to work until the end of her shift. As

the store nears closing time, she is about to walk home, when she is stopped by a

security guard, who is holding the lottery winnings for Wilson, the chief

electrician. She goes to the basement but cannot find Wilson. She enters a storage

room, the doors close behind her and she cannot open them. She is disturbed to

see a group of moving shop window mannequins. Thinking it a practical joke, she tells them to stop, but they do not

respond. They soon surround her. They look as if they are about to kill her, when someone takes her arm. She turns to

see a leather-jacketed man, who tells her "run!".

She quickly obliges. Both run just before one of the mannequins karate chops at her. They run to a lift, pursued by the

mannequins. Before the doors can close, one of the mannequins reaches for them, but the man pulls its arm off, and the

two escape. On the way up, Rose suggests students were involved, since "all those people have got to be students." The

man congratulates her on her theory, but says they aren't students, but living plastic, and they have killed Wilson. When

Rose (TV story)  



The Doctor destroys Henrik's.

The Doctor uses his sonic
screwdriver to de-activate the
arm.

they arrive at the correct floor, the man has a bomb. He plans to destroy a relay device to stop the moving mannequins.

Blithely claiming he may die, he tells Rose not to worry about him and to go. He offers a quick introduction: he is the

Doctor and reminds her to run for her life.

Rose follows his advice, and runs from the vicinity of Henrik's, carrying the arm

of the plastic mannequin. When she is at a safe distance, she sees her place of

work exploding. She turns around and runs back home. On the way, she passes a

blue police box.

When she returns home, her mother makes phone calls to every one of her friends,

telling them Rose has survived the explosion, before telling her she should get

compensation for the "trauma". Mickey rushes in to see if she is okay. She assures

him she is fine and he decides to catch the last five minutes of a match at the pub. On his way out, he takes the plastic

arm to throw away as Rose asks, and mimes the arm strangling him. Outside, he throws it into a bin.

The next morning, Rose's alarm goes off at 7:30am. She no longer has a job. While having tea, Jackie reminds her of

getting compensation. Afterwards, Rose hears a noise from the door. Investigating, she opens the cat flap, and is

shocked to see the Doctor, using the metal device from last night to jam the lift. He wonders what she is doing in the

house; Rose tells him she lives here. He has come to trace the plastic arm. Jackie believes he is there to talk about Rose's

compensation. In the flat, he acknowledges Jackie's hints that she is in her dressing gown, and there is a man in her

bedroom, but when she tells him that "anything could happen," he says no and walks off.

While Rose makes tea for him, the Doctor looks through Heat Magazine, and notes

that a celebrity couple's relationship won't last since "he's gay and she's an alien."

The novel "The Lovely Bones" has a "sad ending." He plays with a deck of cards

and looks in a mirror, commenting on his ears. He sees the plastic arm, which

starts strangling him. Rose thinks he is pretending as Mickey did. It lets go of the

Doctor and attacks Rose. The Doctor uses his sonic screwdriver to disable the arm

and deactivate it ("There you go - armless!"). He starts to leave.

Rose chases after him, telling him he can't leave since they tried to kill her twice.

The Doctor says they aren't after her, but him; Rose was merely in the wrong place at the wrong time. He mutters about

humans being oblivious to the war beneath their feet, joking that the living plastic isn't here to start a price war, but tells

Rose that they want to overthrow and destroy the human race, and claim the Earth as their own. Rose asks the Doctor

who he actually is. He starts off by explaining that when human children learn that the Earth is actually moving, they

don't believe it, since everything seems to stand still, but he can feel the planet rotating a thousand miles per hour,

moving around the sun at sixty-seven thousand miles per hour. He tells her to forget about him, before leaving and

walking to the blue box. As Rose keeps walking, a wind blows up and a strange groaning sound starts; she turns and

runs back to where she last saw the Doctor, but both he and the box have vanished.

Rose cannot let go, and decides to go to her boyfriend's house to use his computer. She researches the Doctor on the

Internet, and eventually finds a hit while typing "doctor blue box". She follows the link to Who is Doctor Who?, where

the front page shows a face of the same man she met twice earlier, before reading the address. She decides to have

Mickey drop her off to the address of the website's owner, Clive Finch.

They arrive in his Volkswagen Beetle. Rose tells Mickey to keep a look out while she goes to see Clive. Clive invites her

in. His wife, Caroline Finch, is shocked a girl is interested in his work. The two walk to his shed, where Clive shows

Rose pictures of the same man in Dallas, 1963, the day John F. Kennedy was assassinated; an older photograph of the

Daniels, a Southampton family and their friend, the Doctor, taken on April 11th 1912, the day before the family were



A wheelie bin captures Mickey.

Rose discovers the TARDIS is
bigger on the inside.

due to sail for America onboard the Titanic. For an unknown reason they cancelled the trip and survived. Finally, he

shows her a sketch of the Doctor found in Indonesia just before the eruption of Krakatoa. Clive believes that the Doctor

is dangerous, and has one constant companion: death. If she has seen him, they are all in danger.

Meanwhile, Mickey keeps an eye on the house, until distracted by a wheelie bin

moving on its own. Expecting a practical joke, he comes out to confront it, but

when he opens it, it is empty. He closes it and finds that letting go is difficult. The

lid sticks to his hands, the plastic stretching as he pulls away. Each attempt to

break free ends up back at the bin, which suddenly tosses him in the air and

swallows him whole ... then burps loudly afterwards. Some time later, Rose

returns to the car, thinking that she has wasted her time, not knowing that Mickey

has been replaced with a living plastic version. They decide to have dinner at a pizza restaurant.

The two arrive at the restaurant and are seated. Rose looks through the menu, but "Mickey" starts to grill Rose about the

Doctor, asking what he told her, talking in an odd way. While she wonders what is up with him, a man gives them a

bottle of champagne. After he comes back twice, Plastic Mickey looks up to tell him they didn't order any. It is the

Doctor holding the bottle. He uses the bottle's gas to fire the cork at "Mickey's" forehead, but it merely makes its way

down to his mouth, where he spits it out. After his hands morph into paddles, there is a brief struggle until the Doctor

pulls his head off. He and Rose flee while the headless plastic Mickey causes havoc at the restaurant. The two close the

back door and the Doctor locks it off with his metal device, a sonic screwdriver. While headless Mickey attempts to

break through, the Doctor goes inside his blue box, which is now in the back courtyard, to Rose's bewilderment. With

nowhere to go, she follows him, but the second she enters, she rushes outside, looks at the size of the box and enters

again. The inside of the box is bigger than the outside. The Doctor explains that the blue box is the TARDIS and that

both it and he are alien.

Rose starts crying; the Doctor thinks it's culture shock, but she wonders if the real

Mickey is dead, something he didn't consider. Rose points out, to the Doctor's

frustration, that the head is melting; he wanted to use it to track the Nestene

Consciousness, the entity controlling the Autons. He manages to follow it, but the

head is completely melted before they find the precise location of the

Consciousness. They arrive on the edge of the River Thames. As they exit the

TARDIS, Rose is full of questions. She wonders why the TARDIS is a box; it is a

disguise. She wonders how they travelled; the TARDIS disappears in one place

and reappears in another. She also wants to know why, if the Doctor is an alien, he speaks as if he's from the North; the

Doctor explains that "lots of planets have a North."

While trying to deduce the location of the Nestene Consciousness, the Doctor explains that he wants to find a transmitter

of some kind, very big and round - completely oblivious to the fact that he is standing opposite the London Eye, a

perfect landmark for a transmitter. With some help from Rose, he realises this. The two run across a bridge to the other

side of the Thames. They find an entrance to an underground base beneath the Eye. The Doctor has brought with him a

vial of Anti-plastic as a last resort; he wishes to appeal to the Nestene Consciousness first. When they enter, he asks the

Consciousness for an audience, which it grants. On the way down, Rose sees Mickey; the Doctor explains that they

needed to keep Mickey alive to keep his plastic double working.

As Rose releases Mickey, the Doctor talks with it. In accordance with the Shadow

Proclamation, he asks it to leave the planet and find a new one to restart the

Auton race, as all of the Nestene's planets were destroyed. Instead the



The invasion begins...

The Nestene Consciousness is
destroyed.

Consciousness has two of the Autons capture him, as it detects the TARDIS, and

discovers he is carrying Anti-plastic, which the Doctor says is just an insurance

policy. The Consiousness also realises he is a Time Lord, and that they destroyed

the planets in the Last Great Time War. Angered it decides to start the invasion

ahead of plans, and uses a lightning bolt from the vat to the London Eye,

powering the transmission.

Knowing everybody is in danger, Rose calls her mother to tell her to go home. Jackie instead talks to her about getting

compensation for the explosion at Henrik's (having just picked up a form from a police station) and chooses not to listen

about staying home; she insists on doing late night shopping in Queen's Arcade. While the transmitter is working, Clive

and his family walk past a shop window in the same mall and see mannequins start to move; Caroline wonders if it's

Rag Week already. Soon everyone sees all the mannequins moving, and suddenly they break through the glass. Clive is

amazed that everything he has looked for has come true, and he was right all along. One of the Autons opens its hand,

revealing a gun and shoots Clive dead. The public panics, including Jackie, who runs from the mall. She also realises

that all the mannequins everywhere have come out to kill all humans.

Below the London Eye, the Autons holding the Doctor are slowly pushing him towards the edge of the ledge that they

are on. Rose takes an axe and breaks free one of the chains on the wall, soliloquizing that she has no A-levels, no job,

and no future, but won the bronze in the under-sevens' gymnastics at Jericho Street Junior School. She swings down to

the Autons holding the Doctor and collides with them; the one holding the anti-plastic falls down into the vat

containing the Nestene Consciousness. The Doctor throws the only Auton left into the vat as well. The vial of anti-

plastic breaks and spills onto the Nestene Consciousness, killing it.

Jackie takes cover behind a car. Three bride Autons try to shoot her. Fortunately,

the transmitter shuts down, and all the Autons turn into lifeless mannequins

again. Underneath the London Eye, the base starts to collapse and explode. Before

it is destroyed, the Doctor, Mickey and Rose board the TARDIS and escape. After

they arrive in an alleyway, Mickey rushes out on realising that the box is bigger

inside and can move. Rose receives a phone call from her mum, who tells her to go

home, as it is not safe. Rose quietly laughs before hanging up.

With the Earth saved, the Doctor decides to continue on his travels, but suggests Rose to come with him on his

adventures. Tempted, Rose chooses to stay for the well-being of her mother and boyfriend. The Doctor bids farewell to

her and leaves. After the TARDIS dematerialises, Rose decides to send Mickey home. However, before they leave the

alley, the TARDIS appears again in front of them. The Doctor emergest and tells Rose "by the way, did I also mention

that this can also travel in time?" She kisses Mickey and thanks him. When Mickey wonders what for, she replies

"exactly," before running to the TARDIS with a huge grin on her face...
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R E F E R E N C E S
INDIV IDUALS

H. P. Wilson is dead, killed by the Autons
The Autons make a copy of Mickey Smith.
Clive Finch suggests that the title "Doctor" is passed down from father to son, and points to his website, saying to
Rose Tyler, "That's your Doctor there, isn't it?" This indicates he has information on the Doctor's other incarnations.
Rose's friend Suki says there are jobs going at the local hospital.

TECHNOLOGY
The sonic screwdriver makes an appearance and is again an all-purpose tool.
The Nestene Consciousness used warp shunt technology to get to Earth.
Rose uses search-wise.net to search the Internet.

SPEC IES
The Nestene Consciousness is destroyed by the Doctor's anti-plastic. Presumably Rory Williams' existence as an
Auton beyond 2005 happens either because most of the events in The Big Bang take place in an alternate timeline or
because there are multiple Nestenes.



MUSIC
The Doctor whilst shuffling a deck of cards in Rose's house sings a line from the song 'Luck be a Lady' from the
Broadway production 'Guys and Dolls'.

S T O R Y  N O T E S
This is the first story of the first series of the revived Doctor Who.
This is the first story featuring Christopher Eccleston as the Doctor.
This is the first story featuring new companion Rose Tyler, played by Billie Piper.
This is the first story featuring the new TARDIS console room, which has a far more organic appearance than its
predecessors. Initially questioned by fans, the later mini-episode Time Crash would confirm this as a new "desktop
theme" for the TARDIS interior called "coral".
This was the first Doctor Who episode to be produced in a widescreen picture format. Discounting the 1996 telefilm,
it is also the first episode to have a shot-on-film appearance since 1985's Revelation of the Daleks and the first
episode to be completely filmed since Spearhead from Space in 1970. However, the show is in fact videotaped, as it
has been since 1986, with the footage subsequently processed to look like film. This production style continued into
2009 when the series began production in high definition.
The story itself could be a close sequel to Spearhead from Space, and has thematic similarities to the earlier story, as
both feature a new Doctor, a new companion, and the Auton threat. The Autons had also appeared in Terror of the
Autons , the story that had introduced the Master, another new companion, and recurring UNIT character Mike
Yates.
A copy of this story was available to download on the Internet on various p2p networks several weeks before it
was released. The preview version was essentially the broadcast version; however it did not contain the new credits
and had the original series theme music as opposed to the new version. In 2005, the illegal distribution of TV series
episodes via p2p was nowhere near as widespread as it became with the later rise of torrents; Rose was one of the
first major TV productions to be "leaked" in this fashion.
The word Auton is not used in the dialogue of the story but is used in the episode credits.
In Rose's flat, the Doctor leafs through a copy of Alice Sebold's The Lovely Bones. He is shown flicking through the
book very quickly, commenting, "Sad ending." He also looks at a woman's magazine and comments on one of the
articles, saying, "Well, that'll never work. He's gay and she's an alien."
The surname Finch was used for Clive and his wife in the production notes but not in the on-screen version.
The episode, like the 1996 TV movie, breaks with what had become the tradition of including the Doctor's image in
the title sequence.
For this, the first episode, the opening credits follow the UK standard of title sequence then program. The rest of
the season would include a 'teaser' before the main title sequence.
There were problems during the first broadcast of this episode in the UK which meant that sound from a BBC
Three program, Strictly Dance Fever hosted by Graham Norton, was heard over the scene in which Rose first
encounters the Autons.
As part of the launch of the new series, the BBC screened the documentary Doctor Who: A New Dimension on BBC1
- coincidently narrated by David Tennant, the future Tenth Doctor.
Following this episode, Doctor Who Confidential: Episode 1 was broadcast on BBC 3.
The reference to the Doctor having a Northern accent relates to the media attention generated around Christopher
Eccleston - who had always retained his native Lancashire accent - not conforming to people's perception of what
the Doctor should be like. It also references the fact the different actors who had previously played the Doctor had,
themselves, differing accents, most notably Sylvester McCoy, whose Doctor spoke with a light Scottish accent.
In the scene where the Doctor is in Rose's flat, the original script called for the Doctor to stick his entire head in the
cat flap. When it arrived, however, it was far too small.
Rose's comment about the Doctor sounding like he was from the north marks the second time Earth geography has
been applied to the Doctor's demeanour (previously, he was referred to as being from England in the TV movie).
Similarly, Rose and the Doctor's exchange regarding his accent also echoes a similar discussion between the Fourth
Doctor and fellow Time Lord Drax in DW: The Armageddon Factor regarding the latter's affected Cockney accent.
A special effects milestone occurs when the Doctor is shown standing in the door of the TARDIS and the interior is
clearly visible behind him. In the original series, the interior of the TARDIS was usually shown as a dark void
whenever a head-on view of the open doors (a rarity) occurred. For the first time, elements of the exterior of the
TARDIS -- specifically the inside of the doors and the POLICE BOX lettering along the roofline -- are visible from
the console room.
Between the final scene and the closing credits, the episode incorporates a "Next Time..." trailer for the next
episode. This is the first time this device has been used in Doctor Who. This becomes a regular feature, omitted only
on rare occasions, or occasionally moved to the end of the closing credits.
Actor Nicholas Briggs makes his debut on the revived series, providing the voice of the Nestene Consciousness. He
would go to be the show's designated voice actor, vocalising the Daleks and Cybermen over the next few seasons.
Rose is far from Briggs' first Doctor Who-related work, as he had been an active participant in independent,
unofficial, and licensed spin-off productions dating back to the 1980s, most notably hosting the Myth Makers
interview video series, writing and directing films for BBV Productions and Reeltime Pictures, and as producer of
the Big Finish Productions Doctor Who audio dramas, a project that had its roots in Audio Visuals, a series of fan-
made Doctor Who audio adventures in which Briggs himself played the Doctor. In 2009, Briggs would have his first
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official on-screen appearance in a Who franchise production with a supporting role in Torchwood: Children of Earth.
Russell T Davies becomes the first author of original Doctor Who spin-off fiction to write for the official TV series. A
decade earlier, he wrote the Seventh Doctor novel Damaged Goods for the Virgin New Adventures line of novels.
Numerous other writers of licensed spin-off fiction and Big Finish Productions audio dramas would go on to write
for the revival, including Paul Cornell, Mark Gatiss (who would also guest star in three episodes), Steven Moffat
(who would ultimately succeed Davies as lead writer in 2009), Robert Shearman, and Gareth Roberts.
This is the first episode of Doctor Who to use the name of a companion in its title.
The scene in which Rose wanders through the basement of the department store alone was the first scene Billie
Piper shot as Rose Tyler (per Project Who).
This is the second time The Autons  have initiated a new Doctor. Jon Pertwee faced them in his debut story Spearhead
from Space.
With this story The Autons  became the second adversary to appear in three season premieres. Spearhead from Space
(Season 7), Terror of the Autons , and Rose (series 1). The Daleks have also launched three seasons: Day of the Daleks
(season 9), Destiny of the Daleks (season 17), and Remembrance of the Daleks (season 25).
The "UNIT website" would reveal that the Auton assault was commonly believed to be an attack by "disguised
members of a terrorist coalition", though some people did believe it was aliens; UNIT would not "confirm or deny"
that. [1]

RATINGS
9.94 million (43.2% audience share)
Repeat - 0.48 million (3.5% audience share)

MYTHS  AND  RUMOURS
It is often speculated that the Nestene Consciousness can be heard to utter the words "Bad Wolf". (The subtitles for
the episode show that is says 'Time Lord'.)
Due to the widescreen format introduced with this episode, it was often erroneously stated that this episode and
those that followed were filmed in high-definition. In fact, the first high-definition Doctor Who episode wasn't
produced until Planet of the Dead in 2009. The spinoff series Torchwood, however, has always been produced in high
definition. In 2010 the first standard-definition Doctor Who episode to be "upconverted" to HD, The Next Doctor, was
released on Blu-Ray; this opens the door for Rose and other episodes of the first four seasons to undergo similar
conversion at a later date.

F ILMING  LOCATIONS
Mostly filmed in Cardiff, but with some location filming in London:

The scenes in which Rose is at work were filmed in Howells in the centre of Cardiff.
The scene in which the Autons attack people in a shopping centre was filmed in The Queens Arcade.
The scene in which Rose agrees to go travelling with the Doctor was filmed at Cardiff's outdoor market.
The Yard where the TARDIS is parked was filmed at the back of the Cardiff Royal Infirmary.
The Nestene Consciousness' lair was filmed in a disused paper mill in Cardiff.
Exterior scenes of The London Eye and The Doctor and Rose running through London was filmed, unsuprisingly,
in London.
The Powell Estate and streets where the Doctor tells Rose of the Autons were filmed around Lydstep Crescent in
Cardiff.

PRODUCTION  ERRORS
When Mickey closes the wheelie bin lid, he then finds the plastic
stuck to his hands, he lifts his hands up and the plastic stretches
like tar. If you look closely when he lifts his hands up for the first
time, you'll see that a shadow of one of his hands is cast clearly on
his shirt, yet there is no shadow of the strands of plastic stuck to his
fingers.
When the three bride Autons attack Jackie, and they open their
hands one at a time, it is clear that when the second Auton opens
its hand, all three are already open. After it cuts to Rose, and back
to Jackie again, the third one opens (even though we just saw it
already open).
When Mickey opens the lid to the rubbish bin and his hands are stuck to it, when he starts to stretch out the plastic
and turn around, the strands switch hands instead of crossing.
The final Auton attack in this episode is supposed to take place in a busy London street, but it is a pedestrianised
area, and several shots reveal this. For example, there are no road markings visible, no apparent distinction
between pavement and road, and a bus stop appears to sit in the middle of the 'road'.
The Doctor and Rose locate the "metal" hatch that leads down into the Nestene Consciousness. Watch carefully
after the Doctor removes the "metal" hatch and moves it aside. The entire hatch "pops-up" a second later. This is
because it is plastic and it was suctioned to the floor.
In the opening shot of this episode, we see the Earth from space. The camera then zooms into Western Europe, the
UK, London, then into Rose Tyler's flat, where a jump cut to an alarm clock shows its 7:30am. But look again at the



start of that sequence: it shows that it's daylight over the UK - and over the USA. This is of course impossible.
When it is 7:30am in London, it is 2:30am in New York, as Eastern Time is 5 hours behind UK time. Usually, in
New York, at 2:30am it is not daylight because it is the middle of the night.
When Rose first enters the TARDIS the lamp on the TARDIS' roof is casting a shadow, even though it is also lit up.
(This is because the lights were added digitally.)
When The Doctor and Rose are running across Westminster Bridge towards the London Eye, Big Ben shows the
time as being 10:30 PM, yet there are night buses running (which run between around midnight and 5:00 AM).
The Doctor says that he can feel the ground beneath his feet spinning at 1,000 mph. A figure of 1,041 mph would be
accurate at the equator. However, as a point on the earth travels through a smaller circle at higher lattitudes as it
approaches the north pole (where it rotates, but does not move at all), the speed for London it would actually be
about 650 mph. He was probably just being approximate, though.

C O N T I N U I T Y
The sonic screwdriver makes a reappearance on screen in a new shape but with the same sound effect. The
screwdriver was first introduced in DW: Fury from the Deep and destroyed in DW: The Visitation, then reappeared
in DW: Doctor Who.
People similar to Clive who are obsessed with the Doctor were depicted in NA: Return of the Living Dad. Clive is
clearly corresponding by e-mail with others like himself and refers to the Doctor appearing in numerous
conspiracy theories (possibly an early reference to LINDA - DW: Love & Monsters).
It is implied but never stated that the Doctor has just regenerated. When he is in Rose's flat he checks his
appearance in the mirror as if he is unused to it. He also notes the way in which his ears stick out; this is similar to
a scene in the first episode of Tom Baker's debut story, DW: Robot.
The Autons and the Nestene have previously featured in DW: Spearhead from Space and DW: Terror of the Autons ,
both of which were Third Doctor stories. The Nestenes also feature in the PDA: Business Unusual and
Synthespians™ which are both Sixth Doctor stories. The Autons also reappear in NSA: Autonomy, and DW: The
Pandorica Opens/The Big Bang.
The Doctor has at some time in his past been involved in a war which led to the destruction of the Nestene
Homeworld. This war is also referenced in PDA: Synthespians™.
The Doctor speed-reads a book as he did in DW: City of Death, and will later do in The Time of Angels.
Rose returns to London in DW: Aliens of London.
The Auton invasion is referenced in DW: Love & Monsters.
The Doctor indicates that an unnamed but presumably well-known celebrity is actually an alien in disguise. He
doesn't seem too concerned, suggesting a Men in Black scenario exists in the Doctor Who universe where human-
disguised or human-like aliens live peacefully on Earth in the present day. (This is later supported by the decision
by Bayldon Copper - a native of planet Sto - to stay on the planet after the events of DW: Voyage of the Damned.)
Clive's website, Who is Doctor Who? marks the first time a character has directly referred to the Doctor by the
name "Doctor Who" on screen since WOTAN in DW: The War Machines. Unlike WOTAN's use, which is considered
a continuity error, Clive's use is clearly meant in the form of a question, with "Doctor Who" being more or less a
nickname.
Rose tells the Doctor she had a cat. This is confirmed in DWS: The Cat Came Back.
The Nestene Consciousness is shown to have survived the events of this episode and attempts another invasion of
earth eight years after this episode fighting the Doctor's next incarnation. (NSA Autonomy)
Unknown to Rose, this isn't the first time she's met the Doctor. (DW: The End of Time)
The Doctor's ability to sense the movement of the Earth is similar to his previous ability to sense the movement of
a space station in PDA: The Murder Game and feel the effects of a drill twenty-one thousand kilometres beneath the
ground in DW: The Hungry Earth.

T I M E L I N E
For the Doctor

This story occurs after the Eighth Doctor's flashbacks in: IDW: The Forgotten
This story occurs before: DW: The End of the World

For Rose

This story occurs after: DW: The End of Time
This story occurs before: DW: The End of the World

For Mickey

This story occurs after: DW: Father's Day
This story occurs before: DW: Aliens of London

For Jackie

This story occurs after: DW: The End of Time
This story occurs before: DW: Aliens of London
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The End of the World

Series: Series 1 of Doctor Who televised
stories made by BBC Wales

Story: 158

Doctor: Ninth Doctor

Companions: Rose Tyler

Enemy: Cassandra O'Brien.Δ17
Adherents of the Repeated
Meme
Metal spiders

Setting: Platform One, 5,000,000,000
London, 2005

Writer: Russell T Davies

Director: Euros Lyn

Producer: Phil Collinson

Broadcast: 2 April 2005

Format: 1x45 minute episode

Prod. Code: 1.2

Confidential: Aliens: the Good, the Bad and the
Ugly

Previous: Rose

Next: The Unquiet Dead

C O N T E N T S

This article is written from 
a real world point of view

For the Bernice Summerfield audio drama, see The End of the World (audio
story).

The End of the World was the second story in the first series of Doctor

Who. It was the first instance of travelling into the viewers' relative future

in the revived series.

From a behind-the-scenes perspective, it was significant for being director

Euros Lyn's first work on the series. At the time of broadcast, it featured

the most extensive use of CGI yet seen on Doctor Who.

S Y N O P S I S
The Ninth Doctor takes Rose Tyler on her first voyage through time, to the

year five billion. The Sun is about to expand and swallow the Earth. But

amongst the alien races gathering to watch on Platform One, a murderer

is at work. Who is controlling the mysterious and deadly Spiders?

P L O T
The Doctor asks Rose where she would like to go on her first trip in the

TARDIS. She asks to go one hundred years into the future, but when they

arrive, the Doctor says the 22nd century is boring. They travel again, this

time to 12,005 at the time of the New Roman Empire. Again, they move

on without leaving the TARDIS. Finally, to impress his new companion,

the Doctor then takes Rose to a space station orbiting the Earth in the year

5.5/Apple/26, the day the sun expands and goes supernova.

The Doctor tells Rose the Earth is empty; mankind left it long ago and the

planet was taken over by the National Trust. They have used gravity

satellites to hold the effects of the sun back, but the money has run out. The

Earth will be swallowed up by the Sun at last. When Rose protests that the

continents should have moved because of continental drift, he explains that

the Trust moved the continents back again; they're seeing is "classic Earth".

The extraterrestrial rich of the universe will witness the end of the world, which will occur in about an hour. The station

has automated systems and is staffed by blue-skinned humanoids. On encountering the blue-skinned Steward, who

manages Platform One, the Doctor persuades him that he and Rose are invited guests by using a piece of psychic paper

that makes people see what the Doctor wants them to see. The other guests begin to arrive, including the diminutive

Moxx of Balhoon, the Face of Boe, living humanoid trees from the Forest of Cheem (whose ancestors originated on

Earth) and, from Financial Family Seven, a group of hooded aliens, known as the Adherents of the Repeated Meme.

Rose watches in horrified fascination as the last living human arrives — the Lady Cassandra O'Brien Dot Delta
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Seventeen (a piece of stretched-out skin with eyes and a mouth, mounted on a frame and connected to a brain jar). The

skin needs to be constantly moisturised by her attendants. The guests exchange gifts: Jabe of the Forest of Cheem gives

the Doctor a cutting taken from her grandfather; the Doctor gives her the gift of air from his lungs. The Moxx gives the

gift of bodily salivas, and the Adherents of the Repeated Meme hand out gifts of "peace" in the form of metal spheres,

even to the Steward.

Cassandra gives her own gifts: the last ostrich egg, and an "iPod" (actually a jukebox) from ancient Earth. Rose is a bit

overwhelmed when the jukebox plays "classical" music — the song "Tainted Love" by Soft Cell — and leaves the hall.

She has a brief conversation with a station plumber, Raffalo, who is investigating a blockage. At first she is comforted by

the familiarity of Raffalo's matter-of-fact, working-class manner. But when Raffalo explains that she is from Crespallion,

which is part of the Jaggit Brocade, affiliated to the Scarlet Junction, in Complex 56, Rose realises just how far she is from

home, and with a man she does not even know. Rose leaves, and does not see Raffalo spot some small, spider-like robots

in the ducts, which rapidly grab her and pull her inside. Meanwhile, the spiders are being disgorged from the metal

spheres gifted by the Adherents of the Repeated Meme to the various guests, and soon infiltrate the entire station,

sabotaging its systems.

The Doctor finds Rose, and when Rose asks him where he is from, the Doctor brushes her questions off, getting

defensive and angry. When the Doctor alters Rose's mobile phone so she can talk to her mother in the past, another fact

sinks in — her mother is long dead. The Doctor jokes that if Rose thought the telephone call was amazing, she should see

the bill. Suddenly, a tremor shakes the station, and the Doctor gleefully observes that that was not supposed to happen.

The Steward, investigating the cause of the tremor, is killed when a spider lowers the sun filter in his room, exposing

him to the direct heat of the Sun's rays.

The Doctor also starts to look into the tremor, and Jabe offers to show him where the maintenance corridors are while

Rose goes to speak to Cassandra. Rose finds that Cassandra has had a grand total of 708 cosmetic operations, and

considers herself the last "pure" human — the others who left "intermingled" with other species and she considers them

all mongrels. Her 709th operation (to bleach her blood) is next week. Disgusted that humanity has come to this, Rose

insults Cassandra and storms off, only to be met by the Adherents, who knock her out.

In the corridors, Jabe quietly tells the Doctor that she scanned him earlier, and was astonished to discover what he was

and that he still even exists. She genuinely sympathises with him, putting a hand on his arm, and the Doctor is briefly

moved to tears. They then continue to the bowels of the station, where they find one of the spiders. Jabe captures it with

a long, vine-like appendage which she usually keeps hidden out of courtesy.

As the station's systems continue to be sabotaged and, as a "traditional ballad" — Britney Spears's "Toxic" — plays on the

jukebox, Rose wakes to find herself trapped in a room with a lowering sun filter. The Doctor hears her cries for help and

manages to raise the filter, but Rose is still locked in. Returning to the main hall, the Doctor releases the spider to seek

out its master. At first it focuses on the Adherents of the Repeated Meme, but the Doctor points out that in fact, when

you actually take enough time to think about it, the Repeated Memes are just ideas, and the Adherents are remote-

controlled droids. He pulls the arm off one of them, which deactivates them and the spider scurries over to Cassandra.

Cassandra has her attendants hold the others at bay, saying that the moisturiser guns can also shoot acid. She reveals

that her operations cost a fortune, and she was hoping to create a hostage situation whereby she could later seek

compensation. Now she will just let everyone burn and take over their corporate holdings. Cassandra orders the spiders



to shut off the force field protecting the station, then uses an illegal teleportation device to transport herself and her

attendants away.

With only a few minutes left until the Sun incinerates Earth and the station, the Doctor and Jabe rush back down to the

air-conditioning chamber. The restore switch for the computer systems is at the other end of a platform blocked by giant

rotating fans. The Doctor protests that the rising heat will burn the wooden Jabe, but she insists on staying to hold down

the switch that slows the fans. The Doctor makes it nearly to the end before Jabe catches fire and burns. He closes his

eyes and concentrates, making it past the last fan and throwing the reset switch. The force fields come up around the

station just in time, as the Earth explodes into cinders. The station's systems start to self-repair.

However, several of the guests are now dead (including the Moxx, but not the Face of Boe), incinerated as the Sun's rays

burst through cracks in the windows. The Doctor is furious, and after finding Cassandra's teleportation feed inside the

ostrich egg, reverses it to bring her back. She quickly regains her poise and starts taunting the Doctor, saying that he

cannot do anything about her. However, the Doctor calmly notes that he has transported Cassandra back without her

moisturising attendants. In the raised temperature, she begins to dry out. Cassandra begs for mercy and Rose asks the

Doctor to help her, but the Doctor coldly says that every thing has its time, and every thing dies. Cassandra's skin

stretches and tears, her innards exploding and leaving only her brain tank and empty frame.

Rose is sad that in all the danger, the Earth's passing was not actually witnessed by anyone. The Doctor takes her back to

the present in the TARDIS, telling her that people think things will last forever, but they don't. He reveals to her that his

home planet was burned like Earth, but in a war, and that he is the last survivor of the Time Lords. Rose says that he

still has her, and he smiles as she offers to buy him some chips - after all, they only have five billion years before the

shops close.
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Moxx of Balhoon - Jimmy Vee
Cassandra O'Brien - Zoë Wanamaker
Jackie Tyler - Camille Coduri
Raffalo - Beccy Armory
Voice of Computer - Sara Stewart
Voice of Alien - Silas Carson
Coffa - Paul Kasey
Lute - Alan Ruscoe
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Production Manager - Tracie Simpson
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R E F E R E N C E S
GALL IFREY

The Doctor tells Rose that his planet was destroyed before its time, as the result of a war which they lost.

BAD  WOLF  ARC
The term Bad Wolf is mentioned for the first time, the Moxx of Balhoon stating "Indubitably, this is the Bad Wolf
scenario."

SPEC IES
Cassandra mentions how there are many species out there that describe themselves as "Human-ish," likely
referencing the many near-human races that happen to be about. Cassandra most likely assumes that Rose is one
of these Near-Humans upon meeting her.

S T O R Y  N O T E S
The story begins with a brief re-cap of the last week's episode similar to many American shows, however unlike
most American shows there is no voice over announcing "previously on Doctor Who". The footage from Rose
simply begins the episode. Discounting the 1996 TV movie, this marked the first time a Doctor Who episode had
started with a pre-credits sequence since Remembrance of the Daleks in 1988; unlike the original series, which used
the device rarely, it would become standard practice for the series from here on out, with very few episodes made
without a teaser (the exceptions are usually series premieres).

A BBC logo is placed on the bottom of the screen when the recap finishes and this episode begins. At this point
the corporation had not yet established the practice of showing the logo during the opening credits.

Russell T Davies, who created Cassandra, has said on multiple occasions that he was inspired to create Cassandra



If you'd like to talk about narrative

problems with this story — like plot holes

and things that seem to contradict other

stories — please go to this episode's

discontinuity discussion.

upon viewing skinny Hollywood actresses at the Academy Awards. On 2 April 2006, the Sunday Mirror quoted
Davies: "It was horrific seeing those beautiful women reduced to sticks. Nicole Kidman struck me in particular.
Nicole is one of the most beautiful women in the world. But she looks horrifying because she's so thin. It's like
we're killing these women in public. We watch while you die."

In one scene Rose says "Wait hold on. They did this once on Newsround Extra" - Newsround is a news program on
BBC 1 and CBBC aimed at providing news for children. Newsround Extra is an extended version of this concept
which concentrates on a single issue or subject. A newsround reporter was on set watching as this scene was
filmed. His report can be read here on the newsround website

A minor milestone occurs when the Doctor utters the phrase "What the hell is that?", the first time the character
has the minor curse phrase. This marked a slight loosening of the Doctor's use of language in the revived series,
although in light of the show's family-friendly tone the Doctor has never said anything stronger than "hell" and
"damn."
The scene between Rose and Ruffalo was a late addition, added because the episode was underrunning.
This is the first time the Doctor has actually been seen to shed a tear.

RATINGS
Saturday - 8.0 million viewers

MYTHS
The first thing Rose sees upon leaving the TARDIS is a ventilation duct. What is commonly mistaken for a ventilation
duct was actually the shuttered window in the smaller observation room. The Doctor opens it after he exits the TARDIS.

CULTURAL  REFERENCES
The room with all of the moving blades seems to be inspired by Star Wars, which is famous for its long bridges
over really huge chasms and no hand rails or anything to stop people falling to their death.
When the Ninth Doctor returns Rose to Earth in the 21st century there is a man selling the Big Issue. This is a
magazine sold on the streets in the UK and Australia to provide money for homeless people.
When Rose tells the Doctor she is going to talk to Cassandra she calls her "Michael Jackson", referring to that
singer's well-known cosmetic surgery.

M U S I C
Tainted Love by Soft Cell - Plays after all of the delegates have assembled
Toxic by Britney Spears - Plays while the delegates await the destruction of the Earth and the Doctor realises the
danger they are all in.

F ILMING  LOCATIONS
Much of Platform One was filmed in 'the chapel of peace' in Cardiff.
The service tunnels were filmed in the basement of BBC Wales.

PRODUCTION  ERRORS
Rose Tyler's hairstyle changes from shot to shot when she is
discussing being 'the last human' with Cassandra. Rose's hair is in
one style for the long shots, and another style for the close-ups.

C O N T I N U I T Y
Rose asks why all of the aliens seem to speak English. The first
companion to do so since Sarah Jane Smith. Given his reaction,
Rose is also the only one to question why he didn't ask permission
first. Donna Noble also asked the Doctor and tried speaking Latin
(DW: The Fires of Pompeii). In the classic series, Sarah Jane Smith
asked the Doctor (DW: The Masque of Mandragora), but while being possessed. It was this that alerted the Doctor
that she was possessed.
The Doctor implies he was on the RMS Titanic, a connection previously implied in DW: Rose. In the classic series,
there was a reference to the sinking in DW: The Invasion of Time.
It has been commented upon that the Doctor shows a darker side by leaving Cassandra to die, a scene very
reminiscent of the scene with Davros in DW: Remembrance of the Daleks, even down to use of the phrase "Have
pity".
Cassandra returns in DW: New Earth.
The Face of Boe returns in DW: New Earth and DW: Gridlock . The Doctor later speculates that the Face of Boe may
be the future form of Jack Harkness. (DW: Last of the Time Lords)
The Earth's end was last seen when the planet was trailing smoke as it headed towards the Sun at the close of
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episode two of DW: The Ark during the 57th segment of Time, approximately 10,000,000 years into the future. The
last humans left on Earth had evacuated the planet because of the increasing danger that it would fall into the sun,
fleeing to planets such as Refusis II and Frontios (DW: The Ark, DW: Frontios).
The Doctor upgrades Rose's phone into the Superphone. He later does this to Martha Jones and Donna Noble in
DW: 42 and DW: The Poison Sky.
The Doctor uses psychic paper on-screen for the first time. His second incarnation briefly used it during his time as
an agent of the Celestial Intervention Agency. (PDA: World Game)
Just as with Rose, Peri's first TARDIS trip was to a space station — deliberately chosen by the Doctor, so Peri could
easily see lots of different alien races and thereby get a taste of what travelling in the TARDIS was like. (PDA: The
Ultimate Treasure)
The First Doctor previously met intelligent vegetation in BFA: Here There Be Monsters.

T I M E L I N E
This story takes place after DW: Rose
This story takes place before DW: The Unquiet Dead

H O M E  V I D E O  R E L E A S E S
This was released along side Rose and The Unquiet Dead on a "vanilla" DVD
with no extras.
It was also released as part of the Series 1 DVD box set
This was also released with Issue 1 of the Doctor Who DVD Files.

S E E  A L S O
DW: The Curse of Peladon
DW: The Robots of Death
DW: Terror of the Vervoids

E X T E R N A L  L I N K S
Official BBC Website - Episode Guide for The End of the World
Detailed synopsis of The End of the World  at the Doctor Who Reference Guide

The End of the World  at Shannon Sullivan's A Brief History of Time (Travel)
The Discontinuity Guide to: The End of the World  at The Whoniverse
BBC - South East Wales - Doctor Who Locations - End of the World
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The Unquiet Dead

Series: Series 1 of Doctor Who televised
stories made by BBC Wales

Story: 159

Doctor: Ninth Doctor

Companions: Rose Tyler

Enemy: Gelth

Setting: Cardiff, 1869

Writer: Mark Gatiss

Director: Euros Lyn

Producer: Phil Collinson

Broadcast: 9 April 2005

Format: 1x45 minute episode

Prod. Code: 1.3

Confidential: TARDIS Tales

Previous: The End of the World

Next: Aliens of London

C O N T E N T S

This article is written from 
a real world point of view

The Unquiet Dead was the third story in series one of Doctor Who. It was

the first episode of the BBC Wales series to be set in the past, relative to

the viewer, and the first to feature an extended encounter with a

historical figure from Earth's past since DW: Timelash, in which the Sixth

Doctor met H. G. Wells. From a behind-the-scenes perspective, it was

significant for being writer Mark Gatiss' first televised episode.

S Y N O P S I S
The Ninth Doctor and Rose arrive in Cardiff on Christmas Eve, 1869 and

discover that something is making the dead come back to life. The time

travellers team up with a world-weary Charles Dickens to investigate

Gabriel Sneed, the local undertaker and his servant girl Gwyneth – and

come face to face with the ghostly Gelth.

P L O T
In the funeral parlour of Sneed & Company Funeral Home, during the

Victorian era, Mr. Redpath grieves over the open casket containing his

dead grandmother, Mrs. Peace. Closing his eyes in sorrow, he does not

see a blue, glowing vapour wash over the corpse and enter it. Mrs. Peace's

eyes snap open and she grabs Redpath by the throat, strangling him to

death. Gabriel Sneed, the undertaker, rushes in and tries to close the lid

on the reanimated corpse but she knocks him unconscious to the floor

before getting up and wandering out onto the street, wailing.

Some time later, Gwyneth, Sneed's servant girl, comes back from the stables

to find Sneed recovering from the cadavers' attack. This is not the first time

that there have been zombie incidents going on in the funeral home, and Gwyneth tells Sneed that they need to get help.

Sneed protests that it is not his fault, and they have to get Mrs. Peace back before she does any danger. Riding in the

hearse, Sneed orders Gwyneth to use her clairvoyant abilities to seek the dead woman out, and Gwyneth focuses on the

old woman's last desire: to see Charles Dickens, who is giving a reading in a music hall in town at Talisen Lodge.

Dickens himself is in a melancholic mood as he waits for his stage call. He feels old, is estranged from his family and his

imagination is growing thin. He feels that he has seen all there is to see.

In the TARDIS, the Ninth Doctor and Rose are having a rough ride. As the ship shakes and they hold onto the console,

the Doctor aims the TARDIS for Naples in 1860. When they land, Rose is about to rush out when the Doctor tells her

that she would start a riot in her 21st century clothing. Rose returns more suitably dressed in an off-the-shoulder gown,

and the Doctor compliments her, saying she is beautiful ... for a human. They step out into the snow-covered streets of

history, the Doctor realising when he buys a newspaper that his aim was a bit off – it is Christmas Eve, 1869, and they

are in Cardiff, not Naples (although Rose repeatedly tells him that she doesn't care - until she finds out it's Cardiff).

In the music hall, Dickens gives a reading of A Christmas Carol, but just as he reaches the point where Marley's face

appears in Scrooge's door knocker, he stops short as Mrs. Peace, in the audience, starts to glow blue. The vapour pours

out of her mouth, an ethereal gas with a vaguely human shape that sweeps around the hall, emitting ghastly screams

The Unquiet Dead  



Gelth pass through the Cardiff
Space-Time Rift.

and sends the audience running in a panic. The screams attract Rose and the Doctor as well as Sneed and Gwyneth.

Dickens accuses the Doctor of being responsible for the illusion, as the vapour completely leaves the dead woman's

body to be sucked into a gas lamp, and the body collapses. Sneed and Gwyneth carry the limp body out. Rose goes in

pursuit, and Sneed chloroforms her, bundling her into the hearse with the dead woman. The Doctor commandeers

Dickens's coach, but the great writer's protests vanish when the Doctor discovers who he is and gushes over his literary

genius. When the Doctor tells him about Rose, Dickens chivalrously joins the chase.

Rose awakens in the locked viewing gallery of the funeral parlour (not seeing another gaseous entity take over the late

Mr. Redpath's body). As the Doctor and Dickens arrive at the parlour and force their way in, Mr. Redpath and his

grandmother sit up and climb out of their coffins, approaching Rose menacingly. The gas lamps in the house flicker, and

the Doctor realises there is something living in the pipes. He hears Rose's cries and breaks the door down, pulling her

away from the corpses. He asks them who they are, and the corpses cry that they are dying because the Rift is failing

and these forms cannot be sustained. Then the screaming blue vapours stream out of the dead, and the bodies collapse

once more.

After recovering from the incident, we see Gwyneth pouring the Doctor's tea just the way he likes it (without even

asking him), while Rose lashes out at Sneed for drugging her, kidnapping her, and locking her in a room full of zombies.

The stricken Sneed explains that the house has had a reputation for being haunted, which is why he managed to buy it

so cheaply. The Doctor explains that the house is built on the rift the aliens were referring to – a break in space-time that

is growing. These entities are from across the universe. Dickens is still sceptical, refusing to believe that there are ghosts

in the gas pipes. The Doctor tells him that as dead bodies release gas when they decompose, they are ideal vehicles for

these gaseous aliens. Dickens tells the Doctor, shakily, that if what he has seen is true, then perhaps his entire life, spent

fighting against injustice and for social causes in what he thought was the real world, has been for nothing. The Doctor

tries to reassure him that the real world is still the same; there's just more in it than Dickens thought.

Rose, in the meantime, talks to Gwyneth, finding out that she was taken in by Sneed when she was twelve, after her

parents died. Although they initially get along well, Gwyneth sees the future in Rose's mind but is shocked when she

sees the things Rose has experienced with the Doctor. She apologises, admitting her clairvoyance and saying that her

abilities have been growing stronger recently. The Doctor has been listening, and surmises that Gwyneth's abilities are

due to her growing up in this house over the rift, and she is the key. He suggests they hold a séance.

Gwyneth manages to summon the aliens, who speak through her. They are the Gelth, a species whose bodies were

destroyed by the Time War, which left them facing extinction in a gaseous state. The few Gelth remaining need to come

through the rift and take over dead bodies to survive. Rose is repulsed by the idea, but the Doctor insists that they have

to help. Gwyneth will stand at the spot of the rift down in the morgue and allow the Gelth to use her as a bridge. Rose

continues to protest: she knows the Gelth do not succeed, because the future does not have walking dead, but the Doctor

tells her that time is constantly in flux, and the future can be rewritten; nothing is safe. In any case, Gwyneth wants to

help her "angels". The Doctor warns the Gelth that this is only a temporary solution – once they possess the bodies, he

will transport them to another place where they can build permanent ones.

However, when Gwyneth stands at the rift, and the Gelth begin to come through

her, the numbers are much more than they originally implied. The Gelth show

their true colours: they do not just want bodies that are already dead, they are

willing to kill to supply themselves with more hosts and occupy the planet.

Gwyneth stands motionless at the position of the rift as the Gelth continue to

stream in. Sneed has his neck snapped by a reanimated corpse and is taken over.

Dickens, overwhelmed, runs in fear as the Doctor and Rose are backed up into a

corner. The Doctor apologises to Rose that she is going to die over a century before



she was born, but she tells him that she wanted to come. The Doctor holds her hand as they prepare to go out fighting

together. He tells Rose he is glad he met her, she replies the same and they share a smile.

Outside, Dickens sees a pursuing Gelth get sucked into a gas lamp on the street with a scream, and has a brainwave. He

rushes back into the house, turning off the flames and turning up the gas. He goes down into the morgue, doing the

same, telling the Doctor what he is doing. The Doctor realises that by filling the house with gas, the Gelth will be sucked

out of the corpses like poison from a wound. This is exactly what happens, the Gelth pouring out of the collapsing

corpses, screaming and swirling around in the confines of the morgue. The Doctor tells Gwyneth to send them back, but

she says she is only strong enough to hold them here, and takes out a box of matches from her apron.

The Doctor tells Dickens to get Rose out of there before the two succumb to the gas fumes, and tries to convince

Gwyneth to leave the Gelth to him. As he touches her neck, however, he discovers the truth of the matter, and

reluctantly leaves. Gwyneth lights a match, and the house and the Gelth are consumed in the resulting explosion. The

Doctor tells Rose that when he checked Gwyneth's pulse, he realised that she was dead - and probably had been from

the moment she stood in the rift. Rose does not understand, because Gwyneth spoke to them and saved them. In

response, Dickens quotes Shakespeare, that "there are more things in heaven and earth than are dreamt of in your

philosophy" (Hamlet: Act 1, scene V). Rose looks sadly at the ruins of the funeral home: a servant girl saved the world,

and nobody will ever know.

Dickens thanks the Doctor as they stand in front of the TARDIS. The things he has seen tonight have given him hope

that there is more to learn. He plans to patch things up with his family and finish The Mystery of Edwin Drood, identifying

the murderer as a blue elemental and thus warn humanity of the Gelth. He asks the Doctor if his books will last, and

the Doctor assures a smiling Dickens that his work will last forever. Inside the TARDIS, Rose asks if Dickens writing

about what they just experienced will change history. The Doctor tells her that Dickens will never get to write his story,

as he dies the following year. Right now, however, they have made him more alive than he has been in a long time.

Dickens watches in wonderment as the TARDIS fades away before his eyes. He laughs out loud, and walks through the

streets of Cardiff, wishing everyone a Merry Christmas, and declaring, "God bless us, everyone!"
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R E F E R E N C E S
The Doctor was aiming for Naples, 24 December 1860, but they arrive in Cardiff, Christmas Eve, 1869.
According to the Doctor, Rose is 19 years old.
Just prior to panicking about how he is going to die in the dungeon in Cardiff, the Doctor claims that he has seen
the fall of Troy (DW: The Myth Makers), World War V and has "pushed boxes at the Boston Tea Party".

FOODS  AND  BEVERAGES
Gwyneth serves tea to everyone. The Doctor takes his with two sugars.

LAST  GREAT  T IME  WAR
The Doctor reacts visibly when the Gelth mention "the Time War", hinted at in his conversation with the Nestene
Consciousness and then mentioned explicitly by name with Rose following the destruction of Earth.
Exactly how (or even if) the Gelth were involved is not elaborated upon.

SPACE - T IME  ANOMAL IES
The rift is a weak point in time and space.

THEORIES  AND  CONCEPTS
When looking into Rose's mind, Gwyneth is frightened and breaks off contact when she sees, "the things you've
seen... the darkness... the big bad wolf!"

S T O R Y  N O T E S
Simon Callow, who plays Dickens, has also written extensively about the writer and is well known for playing
Dickens on television as well as in a one-man show.
The address on Sneed's hearse indicates his mortuary is located in Llandaff, where, coincidentally, the BBC Wales
production offices are. Terry Nation, creator of the Daleks, was also born there.
There are several literary in-jokes during Dickens and the Doctor's conversation in the coach.

The "American bit" in Martin Chuzzlewit, which the Doctor describes as "rubbish" and "padding", was indeed
inserted by Dickens to spice up the original serialised story when sales flagged, although the gambit failed to
improve sales.
The death of Little Nell, which the Doctor says always "cracks [him] up," is cited (notably by Oscar Wilde in
1895) as an example of bathos, excessive sentimentality and purple prose that becomes unintentionally
amusing.

Dickens also cries, "What the Shakespeare?", a play on the common exclamation, "What the Dickens?" Contrary to
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popular belief, the phrase has nothing to do with Charles Dickens; "Dickens" is a euphemism for the Devil. Riffing
on this comment, in the 2006 Big Finish Productions audio drama The Kingmaker, William Shakespeare cries, "What
the Geoffrey Chaucer?". Incidentally, William Shakespeare used the phrase "What the Dickens" in his work (The
Merry Wives of Windsor, Act III, scene ii).
According to Doctor Who: The Shooting Scripts, the working titles for this story included The Crippingwell Horror and
The Angels of Crippingwell.
Mark Gatiss stated in the Radio Times that the original script was more bleak and frightening, but that he was
advised by Davies to "make it more of a romp."
The Doctor calls Rose Barbarella for wanting to go out before changing into something more suitable for 1869.
When Eve Myles was cast as Gwen Cooper in Torchwood, it was noted that the character she played in The Unquiet
Dead had a similar name. Russell T Davies initially stated that there was no relationship between the two
characters. In the fourth season finale episode, Journey's End, written by Davies, there is a short conversation
between the Tenth Doctor and Rose Tyler, which suggests that Gwyneth's physical characteristics remained as an
echo in the Time Rift and eventually imprinted themselves into Gwen. Russell T Davies has explained it as "It's not
familial as we understand it. There's no blood tie. Spatial genetic multiplicity means an echo and repetition of
physical traits across a Time Rift."
Simon Callow, who played Charles Dickens in this story, was seriously considered for the role of the Eighth
Doctor in the 1996 TV movie.
According to Mark Gatiss on this story's commentary, there was originally going to be a scene in which the Doctor
was mistaken for Sneed's new cleaner. Someone would have stated, "I thought you'd be a woman" to which the
Doctor replies "No, not yet", hinting that Time lords can change sex.
Simon Callow would later reprise his role as Dickens in DW: The Wedding of River Song.

RATINGS
8.0 million

B R O A D C A S T S
An ad for the American broadcast of this episode on the Sci Fi Channel read, "The year: 1869. The place: England.
The problem: The walking dead." The episode is set in Wales, not England. The location of this episode is also
misidentified as "Victorian England" in Doctor Who: The Interactive Electronic Board Game by Toy Brokers.
Author and Faction Paradox creator Lawrence Miles posted a damning review of this episode on the Internet
within an hour of its broadcast, focusing on a perceived political subtext suggesting that asylum seekers (the Gelth)
are really all evil and out to exploit liberal generosity (the Doctor). The review produced considerable backlash in
various Internet forums, especially in light of his favourable reviews of Rose and The End of the World, mainly over
his comments about writer Mark Gatiss. Miles conceded in a later edit of the review that the subtext was probably
unintentional, but still felt it should have been detected and edited out of the script. The original view has
subsequently been replaced and is no longer accessible.[1]

MYTHS
to be added

F ILMING  LOCATIONS
Although the story is set in 19th century Cardiff, the production was actually filmed in Swansea and Monmouth,
as there were not enough Victorian-looking buildings in Cardiff.
The funeral parlour was filmed at a children's home in Cardiff.

New Theatre, Cardiff (Theatre where Charles Dickens gives his performance)
Beaufort Arms Court, Monmouth
White Swan Court, Monmouth
Headlands School, Penarth
Cambrian Place, Swansea Marina, Swansea
Shire Hall, Monmouth
St Mary's Street, Monmouth
Unit Q2, Imperial Park, Imperial Way, Newport

PRODUCTION  ERRORS
There is a modern road sign in a shot early in the episode situated
behind Sneed and Gwyneth
There is a modern light switch on the wall beside Rose as she tries
to escape from the "zombies".
The Doctor advises Rose to change her clothes as to be less
conspicuous in the 1860s, yet he himself did not change his
clothing. Does the Doctor need to change his clothing, or does he
make people perceive that his outfit is nothing out of the ordinary
for the society that he visits (due to his perception filter)? Although
this not an error because people ask the Doctor about his clothes
several times in the episode like at the start in the TARDIS and when Charles Dickens asks about it - the writer
mistakes him for a navvy.



Dickens says he is going off to catch a mail coach. Mail coaches were no longer used some 30 years earlier in 1830.
This may however be an in-joke since Dickens himself wrote in Pickwick Papers about how mail coaches' had gone out of
service, replaced by the railway.
Of a similar but reverse nature, hexagonal pillar boxes were not painted red (as seen at start and end) until 1874,
some five years later - prior to this they were bronze green
Dickens uses the phrase "On with the motley..." which is anachronistically incorrect. The phrase translates from
vesti la giubba, a line of dialogue from the opera I Pagliacci. The opera wasn't written until 1892, and wasn't
translated into English until 1902 (by Enrico Caruso).
Historically, Dickens had abandoned his "farewell tour" and other charitable performances on doctor's orders in
the spring of 1869, six months prior to the timeframe of this episode.
Dickens did indeed die in 1870 leaving The Mystery of Edwin Drood unfinished, but he died on June 8th 1870, not in
the winter as implied. He'd have had several months to write about "blue ghosts".

C O N T I N U I T Y
The phrase "bad wolf" recurred in all of the stories in this series, specifically referred to by Gwyneth, culminated in
the DW: Bad Wolf and finally explained in The Parting of the Ways.
The Doctor suggests that Gwyneth's powers are due to her growing up near the time rift. Developing psychic
abilities due to spending one's childhood near a time fissure was first established in DW: Image of the Fendahl (as
Mrs Tyler had).
The Cardiff rift reappears in DW: Boom Town and later becomes a core element of Torchwood.

The Doctor gives Rose some complicated directions to the TARDIS wardrobe: "First left, second right, third on the
left, go straight ahead, under the stairs, past the bins, fifth door on your left." This establishes that the interior
corridors of the TARDIS beyond the console room still exist despite the redesign, and echoes a similar conversation
between Romana and Chris Parsons in the uncompleted TV serial Shada /(completed) webcast WC: Shada) about
where to find the TARDIS medical kit. The Eleventh Doctor gives a similarly complicated set of directions to Amy
Pond about finding the drawing room in the TARDIS Adventure Game:

"half a mile down the corridor, left, then right, then right again, then the third right, past a weird swirly thing, left, then

the other left, through the sun room, past a green door, right, along a wall until it becomes slimey, down a lift to the

third floor and straight ahead - easy-peasy!".

The Doctor's partiality to the works of Dickens was indicated previously when the Sixth Doctor quoted A Tale of
Two Cities in DW: The Ultimate Foe. The Fourth Doctor also read out a description of Little Nell's dress (from The Old
Curiosity Shop) in DW: Shada and the Eighth Doctor also read the same passage in WC: Shada).
When the old woman releases the Gelth in the music hall, Dickens cries out, "What phantasmagoria is this?" Gatiss
also wrote BFA: Phantasmagoria.
Rose's conversation with Gwyneth is referenced in DW: Boom Town and in NSA:Only Human.
Gwyneth strongly resembles Gwen Cooper of Torchwood, due to being played by the same actress, Eve Myles.
Russell T Davies initially stated that the two characters are not related but DW: Journey's End reveals that Gwen
may be a descendant of Gwyneth - or at least have absorbed the Time Rift's echo of Gwyneth's physical
characteristics because several generations of her family had lived in Cardiff.
Donna Noble unintentionally references the events of this episode in DW: The Unicorn and the Wasp. ("Yeah, but
think about it. There’s a murder, a mystery, and Agatha Christie.... No, but isn’t that a bit weird? Agatha Christie didn’t walk
around surrounded by murders. Not really. I mean that’s like meeting Charles Dickens, and he’s surrounded by ghosts. At
Christmas.")
In each series of the revived series, the Doctor experiences an adventure at or near Christmas, beginning with this
episode and continuing in DW: The Christmas Invasion, The Runaway Bride, Voyage of the Damned, The Next Doctor,
The End of Time and A Christmas Carol.

T I M E L I N E
This story occurs after DW: The End of the World
This story occurs before DW: Aliens of London

H O M E  V I D E O  R E L E A S E S
This was released along with Rose and The End of the World on a "vanilla" DVD
with no extras.
It was also part of the Series 1 DVD box set.
This was also released with Issue 2 of the Doctor Who DVD Files.

S E E  A L S O
DW: The Talons of Weng-Chiang

E X T E R N A L  L I N K S
BBC - Doctor Who  - Episode Guide - The Unquiet Dead
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Aliens of London

Series: Series 1 of Doctor Who televised
stories made by BBC Wales

Story: 160a

Doctor: Ninth Doctor

Companions: Rose Tyler

Enemy: Slitheen family
Jocrassa Fel-Fotch
Passameer-Day
Slitheen
Blon Fel-Fotch
Passameer-Day
Slitheen

Setting: London, 2006

Writer: Russell T Davies

Director: Keith Boak

Producer: Phil Collinson

Broadcast: 16 April 2005

Format: 1x45 minute episode

Prod. Code: 1.4

Confidential: I Get a Side-Kick Out of You

Previous: The Unquiet Dead

Next: World War Three

C O N T E N T S

This article is written from 
a real world point of view

Aliens of London was the fourth story in the first series of Doctor Who. It

was notable for featuring the first cliffhanger in the BBC Wales run, by

virtue of starting the first two-part story. Keeping cliffhangers in the

show allowed Davies to both expand the plot of story and keep a well

remembered part of the original series.

Narratively, the episode introduced the Slitheen, who would return to

both Doctor Who and The Sarah Jane Adventures, and Toshiko Sato, who

would later feature on Torchwood. It also marked the first appearance of

recurring British politician, Harriet Jones.

One of its legacies — sometimes forgotten by writers — was found in its

opening pre-title sequence. There, the Ninth Doctor mistakenly brought

Rose Tyler one year into the viewer's future, thus making the "present

day" of both Doctor Who and its two BBC Wales spinoffs The Sarah Jane

Adventures and Torchwood up until Children of Earth (excluding much of

Blink) notionally one year later than the year of initial broadcast.

It was also the final episode of Doctor Who to have any portion recorded at

BBC Television Centre.

S Y N O P S I S
The Ninth Doctor takes Rose back to 21st century London one year late,

just in time to witness a spaceship crashing into the River Thames. The

crash triggers a worldwide state of alert and the closing off of the city. As

the Doctor investigates the survivor of the crash, Rose finds problems

closer to home.

P L O T
The TARDIS materialises on a street in Rose's council estate. The Doctor has

taken Rose back home to visit her mother. He tells Rose they have landed

some twelve hours after she first left with him, by his estimate. Or so he believes, because while waiting for Rose to

return, a flyer on a nearby telephone pole catches his eye. On closer look, he notices that it is a missing-persons flyer with

Rose’s picture on it. When Rose enters her flat and casually greets her mother, claiming to have spent the night with a

friend, the stunned Jackie sweeps her daughter up in a desperate, unbelieving hug, and, over her shoulder, Rose sees a

table covered with missing-persons flyers and posters, all with her name and picture on them. The Doctor bursts into the

flat, takes in the situation, and apologetically tells Rose that she hasn’t been gone for twelve hours, but for twelve

months...

Some time later, outside Jackie’s flat, a young boy spray-paints the words "BAD WOLF” on the TARDIS and cycles off.

Meanwhile, inside the Tylers' flat, a police inspector sits and listens patiently, as Jackie lashes out at Rose for her

thoughtlessness in vanishing for over a year without so much as a phone call. Rose says that she’s been travelling, but

Jackie angrily points out that she left her passport behind, causing Rose to claim that she had meant to phone, and just

Aliens of London  



forgot. The Doctor tries to explain that he employed Rose as his companion (in a non-sexual sense, of course) but Jackie

only turns her anger on him, to the point of slapping him and accusing him of luring away her daughter for immoral

purposes. Rose is embarrassed and remorseful, but despite her mother's pleas, she can’t even begin to explain where

she’s been for the past year.

Rose and the Doctor talk on the roof of her tower block, where she expresses her frustration at having just unwittingly

traumatised her mother. The Doctor firmly states that Jackie is not coming with them if Rose decides to keep travelling.

In passing, he reveals that he’s 900 years old, and Rose realises that this is just another of the many things she can’t

discuss with anyone. As Rose muses about the fact that she is practically one of only a few people on Earth who knows

that there are aliens and spaceships and things, a massive cruiser-like spaceship roars overhead, trailing black smoke;

the Doctor takes Rose by the hand as she says "That's not fair" and the two of them follow the ship. The craft zooms

through Central London, its wing cutting into the side of Big Ben (and ringing the bell in doing so) before it finally

splashes into the River Thames near Westminster Bridge.

The river is cordoned off by soldiers from the Parachute Regiment, and the Doctor and Rose have to watch the events

unfold on the television in Jackie's flat. Due to Jackie's friends and neighbours also joining her in the flat to discuss the

crash and Rose's return, the Doctor has difficulty listening to the news (at one point, he is even fighting for the remote

with a toddler trying to watch Blue Peter). The world is being put on red alert, flights have been cancelled over North

American airspace, and the UN Secretary General has advised people to watch the skies. Divers recover an alien body

from the wreckage of the craft, which is placed under military supervision under the command of General Asquith and

brought to the nearby Albion Hospital. The general examines the body and asks Dr. Toshiko Sato, the pathologist, if the

creature is by any chance a fake. She informs him that several X-rays of the skull show wiring she has never seen before

— no one could have made it up.

There has been no sign of the Prime Minister since the state of emergency was declared, and due to the gridlock and the

grounding of flights, most of the Cabinet has been stranded outside central London. Thus, Joseph Green, the rotund MP

for Hartley Dale, and Chairman of the Parliamentary Commission on the Monitoring of Sugar Standards in Exported

Confectionary, has unexpectedly become Acting Prime Minister. Escorted to 10 Downing Street, he is met by Indra

Ganesh, a Junior Secretary with the Ministry of Defence. Green seems to have difficulty handling the pressure, and as

Ganesh tries to brief him, he breaks wind, claiming that nerves are giving him an upsert stomach. Ganesh hands Green a

red box containing the Emergency Protocols, all of the procedures to deal with extraterrestrial incidents, and Green is

met by Margaret Blaine of MI5 and Oliver Charles, Transport Liaison, both as equally rotund as Green is. Blaine reports

that she escorted the Prime Minister this morning to his car, but according to Charles, the car has disappeared, and it

seems to have literally vanished. The three government officials leave Ganesh and enter the Cabinet Rooms. Once inside,

Green drops the book, they look at each other and start laughing about the success of their secret plan.

The evening settles on Rose's estate, and people are holding alien-welcoming parties. The Doctor leaves Rose's flat,

saying that he is not good with people (and that it's hard to understand why people are talking about where to buy

dodgy top-up cards for half price in the middle of a historical milestone). Rose thinks he is going to investigate the

crash, but the Doctor tells her that he is not going to interfere with humanity's first contact with extraterrestrial life. To

assure her he is not going to disappear, he gives her a TARDIS key. However, once downstairs, he enters the TARDIS

and starts it up. Mickey spots the Doctor from his own flat and rushes down, too late as the TARDIS dematerialises.

The Doctor lands the TARDIS in a storage cupboard in Albion Hospital, and opens the door only to run into a group of

soldiers on tea break, who level their rifles at him. At that moment, they hear a scream, and the Doctor immediately

takes charge, barking out orders to lock down the perimeter. The Doctor finds Dr Sato cowering in the corner of an

operating room. The supposedly dead alien has come back to life. The Doctor spots the alien, which looks like an Earth

pig in a spacesuit, and the creature flees in terror, only to be shot by a soldier. He angrily berates the soldier for killing



the creature, protesting that it was only frightened. Examining the body with Dr Sato, the Doctor tells her that it is a real

pig, its brain augmented by alien technology. Some other aliens wanted to fake an alien crash landing, but for what

reason? By the time Dr Sato asks the question, the Doctor is gone, to the echo of a dematerialising TARDIS.

Meanwhile, at 10 Downing Street, Harriet Jones, the backbench MP for Flydale North, tries to convince Ganesh to let her

speak with Green, but he refuses to interrupt Green’s important meeting for her minor concerns. When Green, Margaret

and Oliver emerge from the Cabinet office, Harriet tries to speak with Green, explaining that she’s come up with a

scheme by which cottage hospitals don’t have to be excluded from centres of excellence. Green laughs in her face and

walks off with the others. Nettled, Harriet slips into the deserted Cabinet office and drops the report she’s prepared in

Green’s briefcase... but she then notices that he’s left the Emergency Protocols booklet behind, and, curious, she begins to

leaf through it.

Later, she hears General Asquith approaching the room, and hides in a side closet. Asquith is berating Green, Blaine and

Charles about their inaction, noting to Green that he isn't returning the White House's phone calls, he hasn't started any

of the Emergency Protocols, and he's even cancelled the airlift that would have brought senior cabinet members into the

centre of London. The three officials all seem to find Asquith's complaints amusing, and they all start to uncontrollably

break wind, laughing hysterically. When Asquith threatens to relieve Green of his role as Acting Prime Minister and

place the country under martial law, Green takes this complaint more seriously. He proceeds to tell Asquith that his

latest complaint is just hair raising, literally. They proceed to unzip the tops of their heads, a bright blue light shining

through, and reveal their true alien forms. As Harriet watches terrified through a crack in the door, General Asquith

screams as the disguised aliens advance on and kill him.

Mickey enters the Tylers’ flat, and is furious to see Rose sitting with the rest of his neighbours. Rose apologises for not

visiting him, but that’s not enough to satisfy Mickey: when she disappeared with no explanation, Mickey was nearly

charged with her murder. He’s been questioned by police five times in the past year, and even when Jackie blamed him

(even searching his mailbox), Mickey couldn’t tell her the truth, as he knew she’d never believe him. He now demands

that Rose admit the truth; she might as well, because the Doctor’s gone without her. Rose refuses to believe this, but

when she goes out to see for herself, there is indeed no sign of the TARDIS. She angrily insists that the Doctor wouldn’t

have left her behind -- and as she speaks, the TARDIS key begins to glow in her hand, followed by the TARDIS

materialising before their eyes. Rose proceeds inside with Mickey, but Jackie is too overwhelmed by what she has seen,

and exits the ship to run back to her flat.

The Doctor admits that in fact he had suspected from the start that the crash was a fake — it was too perfect a set-up

(including it hitting Big Ben). Mickey notes that it is an odd way to invade a planet by putting it on red alert. Mickey

(whom the Doctor insists on calling "Ricky" rather than admitting he can't remember his real name) and the Doctor

exchange barbs, but the Doctor has more important things to do. Rose apologises for the Doctor’s behaviour, and assures

Mickey that she did miss him, even though she’s only been gone for a few days from her perspective. He tells her that

he spent the whole year looking for her, and that he never dated anyone else (though, admittedly, most people think he

murdered Rose and then proceeded to hide her body somewhere). Now that she’s back, she realises that Mickey wants

to pick up where they left off -- but before she can decide, the Doctor announces that he’s finished his work. He has

modified the TARDIS scanner to track the spacecraft back twelve hours before the crash and discovers that it was

launched from Earth. Whoever these aliens are, they have been here for a while.

Jackie huddles up in her flat, trying to cope with what she’s seen -- and when the Emergency Alien Hotline number

reappears on the TV, she calls it up and blurts out her story, claiming that her daughter is in danger because of an alien

called the Doctor who travels in a blue box called the TARDIS. These key words trigger an automated alert which

Ganesh receives at 10 Downing Street.



Ganesh rushes to tell General Asquith. Inside the Cabinet Office, meanwhile, the alien that was posing as Oliver Charles

has put on the general's skin; however, like the other aliens, he must frequently break wind in order to fit into his tight

disguise. Blaine remarks that they have to do something about the gas exchange that is causing their flatulence. As

Asquith tosses his former skin into the closet where Harriet Jones is hiding, he complains about the fact that he'll now

have to leave behind Oliver's wife, his mistress, and the young farmer he was seeing on the side. As they leave, Ganesh

tells Asquith about that the Doctor has been spotted, and when Blaine asks who this "doctor" is; Ganesh explains that the

Doctor is the expert on aliens, one they desperately need. In the meantime, other alien experts from around the world,

including the United Nations Intelligence Taskforce, are being summoned to Downing Street.

When the Doctor, Rose and Mickey exit the TARDIS, they are immediately surrounded by armed soldiers, vehicles and

a helicopter. Mickey runs away and escapes, but the Doctor and Rose are put into a limousine and escorted to 10

Downing Street. The police escort Jackie up to her flat and Police Commissioner Strickland (a rather rotund and gassy

man who seems uncomfortable inside his own skin) assures Jackie that her daughter is in a position to help the country,

and asks Jackie how she made contact with the Doctor. Strickland sends the other police away so that he can speak to

Jackie alone.

At Downing Street, Ganesh, who has gathered all of the experts together, meets the Doctor and Rose. Ganesh tells them

that their ID cards must be worn at all times, and ushers them into a room. Rose, however, is not cleared and thus not

allowed in. Harriet Jones, who managed to sneak out of the Cabinet Rooms unseen, comes along at this point and offers

to take care of Rose. She takes Rose to the Rooms and shows her Oliver Charles's empty skin. When they search the

room for alien technology, they find the body of the Prime Minister stuffed in a cupboard. Ganesh enters at this point,

and is aghast when he sees the Prime Minister's body.

At the briefing headed by Asquith and Green, the Doctor reads the reports and notices that three days before, a satellite

picked up a blip of radiation under the North Sea. However, before anyone could investigate, the crash happened. The

Doctor realises, however, that the reason someone would fake an alien invasion is so they can gather those who have

experience and knowledge in fighting off aliens together in one place. The crash is not a diversion — it's a trap.

In the Cabinet Rooms, Blaine enters, closing the door behind her. Ganesh states that it's impossible for the Prime

Minister to be dead, as he was driven away from Downing Street that morning. Blaine smugly explains that the only

reason that he thinks that is because she told him that earlier, and begins to unzip her head before a horrified Ganesh,

Rose and Harriet.

In Jackie's flat, Jackie insists to Strickland that she knows nothing about the Doctor, that isn’t good enough for

Strickland. This Doctor means trouble, and that means anyone associated with him is trouble. And that is Strickland's

job: eliminating trouble. He unzips his forehead and removes his skin-suit...

In the briefing room, when Green breaks wind loudly, the Doctor turns on him for the interruption, and General

Asquith goes ahead and removes his skin suit. The enormous, greenish aliens wriggle out of their skins, the one

inhabiting Blaine attacking Ganesh and the one posing as Strickland cornering Jackie in her kitchen. In the briefing

room, the unmasked Asquith identifies himself and his cohorts as the Slitheen. With that introduction, Green activates a

hand-held device that sends a deadly dose of electricity jolting through the experts' ID cards, including the Doctor's.
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R E F E R E N C E S
Elton Pope is one of the many who witnesses the spaceship crash landing (and doesn't dismiss it as a hoax). This is
not shown on screen until Love & Monsters.



UNIT
UNIT the United Nations Intelligence Taskforce, is mentioned as being among the experts on aliens, The Doctor
mentions having worked with them in the past, but that they wouldn't recognise him now, alluding to
regeneration. This is the first reference to UNIT in the series revival (in a later episode, The Sontaran Stratagem, it is
revealed that UNIT's name has, for some reason, been changed to Unified Intelligence Taskforce). Since no UNIT
personnel are heard uttering the full name, only the Doctor, it is not known if the name has actually been changed
by this point, and the Doctor may not be aware of it.

THE  DOCTOR
The Doctor claims to have participated in drinking contests with former Prime Minister David Lloyd George.
The Doctor says he is 900 years old.

BAD  WOLF  ARC
A boy spray paints the words "BAD WOLF" on the side of the TARDIS while it is parked on the Powell Estate.

S T O R Y  N O T E S
This episode had the working title "Aliens of London Part One" ("World War Three" being "Part Two").
The episode ends on a cliffhanger, the first since episode two of DW: Survival. The story continues in World War
Three. This is also the first occasion since Invasion of the Dinosaurs in which the first episode of a serial does not share
its title with the second.
A poster announcing Rose's disappearance states that she has not been seen since 6 March, 2005. However, the
BBC-produced "official" UNIT website indicates that the climactic events of Rose happened on 26 March. The same
site also dates this episode at either 26 May or 28 June 2006. If the June date is accepted, Boom Town (and also The
Parting of the Ways) would have to take place in late December 2006 — the same week as The Christmas Invasion
(dated to 2006 by the Guinevere One website). On the other hand, if only on-screen evidence is accepted, Aliens of
London would take place in March 2006, Boom Town in September, and The Parting of the Ways later in the autumn
or early winter.
The official police poster is the first reference to the Powell Estate on the television series. In whole, the notice says,
"Rose Tyler has been missing from her home on the Powell Estate since 6 March 2005. Rose is described as 19 years
old, 5 feet 4 inches in height, slim build with shoulder-length blonde hair. Anyone with information regarding
Rose should contacvt 0207 946000." The photograph used is one of Billie Piper herself, rather than one of Piper
playing Rose. Several other, home-made posters are seen on Jackie's table, including one with a banner headline
saying "WHERE IS ROSE?".
When the Doctor complains of being slapped by Rose's mother, Rose laughingly remarks, "You're so gay!" This
remark has caused some controversy in fan circles, some seeing it as an anti-homosexual slur. Davies, who is gay,
wrote in an e-mail response that it was the way people talked, and claimed that he was trying to provoke
discussion by using the phrase.
Another running joke, involving the Slitheens suffering from bad flatulence (due to the gas exchange) while in
their human disguises was also slightly controversial in fan circles, with some critics disapproving of the style of
humour. It did, however, give rise to one of the most quoted lines uttered by the Ninth Doctor during the season:
"Would you mind not farting while I'm trying to save the world?"
The scene where the pig-like "alien" is breaking thought the metal door with Dr Sato watching in shock is
reminiscent of an almost identical moment in the 1996 Doctor Who television movie, in which the newly-
regenerated Eighth Doctor breaks through the metal door of the morgue, terrifying a hospital worker.
The production team had intended to suggest that the murdered Prime Minister in this episode was current real-
life incumbent Tony Blair. On the DVD commentary for the following episode, producer Phil Collinson explained
that they had hired an actor to play the dead body on the understanding that the man was a Tony Blair lookalike.
When the resemblance proved disappointing, they decided to avoid showing the body clearly. The suggestion that
the body is Blair's remains in Harriet's line "I'm hardly one of the babes", a reference to the large number of female
Labour Party MPs who entered the House of Commons in Labour's 1997 general election victory, who were
dubbed "Blair's Babes" by the British media. That Tony Blair was elected in the Doctor Who universe was confirmed
in Rise of the Cybermen.
The armoured personnel carrier seen outside Number 10 is a Saxon, possibly foreshadowing future events.
According to Russell T Davies in Doctor Who Magazine, as well as Doctor Who Confidential , the decision to establish
the Bad Wolf meme in the series did not occur until after the spur-of-the-moment decision to have the words "bad
wolf" graffiti-painted on the TARDIS; subsequently Bad Wolf references were added to the scripts for most of the
other Series 1 episodes, and notwithstanding a few minor or inferred references in the interim, returned in force in
the Series 4 episodes Turn Left and Journey's End. With the origin of the meme established, the mystery that
remains is exactly why the words "bad wolf" were chosen to be spray-painted on the TARDIS in the first place (as
opposed to any other phrase).
Although not clearly seen on screen, one of the UNIT officers killed by the Slitheen at the end is wearing the name
tag "Frost" (the tag is seen more clearly in publicity stills). This may have been a reference to the Doctor Who
Magazine comic strip character Muriel Frost, who worked for UNIT.
The TARDIS key began as an ordinary-looking Yale key, then changed during the Third Doctor's last season into a
more alien looking one, which was also used for the first two seasons of the Fourth Doctor's tenure. It then reverted
back to the Yale key for the rest of the run of the original series. The alien key made one last appearance in the
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Doctor Who television movie. It has now returned to looking like an ordinary key, except that it starts to glow when
the TARDIS is arriving.
This is not the first time someone has written on the Doctor's TARDIS.
The Doctor repeately refers to Mikey Smith as "Ricky." In DW Rise of the Cybermen it is discovered that Ricky
Smith is the alternate version of Mikey in Pete's World.

RATINGS
7.6 million viewers

MYTHS
None

F ILMING  LOCATIONS
The Cardiff Royal Infirmary provided the setting for the fictional London Albion Hospital.
The entrance to the Prime Minister's residence was a redress of a similar-looking door in Central London.
Cardiff Royal Infirmary, Newport Road, Cardiff
Westminster Bridge, Westminster, London (News report on the crash)
Tower Bridge, London (seen as the Slitheen's ship flies over it)
The Queens Walk, Westminster, London (seen when the Slitheen's ship crashes into the Thames)
Hensol Castle, Glamorgan, Wales (Interior of Downing Street)
Bute Street, Cardiff (when Rose are taken to Downing Street in the limo)
John Adam Street, Westminster, London (Exterior of Downing Street)
Belvedere Road, London
Whitehall / Parliament Street, Westminster, London (seen as the Slitheen ship flies over the top)
Brandon Estate, Kennington, London (Long shot exterior of Powell Estate)
Channel View Flats, Cardiff (Closer shots of Powell Estate)
Unit Q2, Imperial Park, Imperial Way, Newport
BBC Television Centre (Studio TC4), Shepherd's Bush, London
HTV Wales Studios (Studio 1), Culvershouse Cross, Cardiff
BBC (Kendal Avenue), Kendal Avenue, Acton

PRODUCTION  ERRORS
When the ship crashes into the clock tower, both the numbers on
the clock face and the text beneath are backwards. (According to the
DVD commentary, director Keith Boak altered his shots of the crash
sequence but this was not related to the visual effects team, who had
prepared according to the storyboarded version. As a result, the sequence
was electronically flipped to make it conform to the spaceship's final
descent pattern.)
The clock also appears to keep working after the incident: the time
reads roughly 10:55 when the spaceship strikes it, but reads
roughly 6:10 when the clock is later seen on a news broadcast. (The
shot is flipped)
Around 26:32, when Mickey appears at the party, the BBC News broadcast in the background can be heard talking
about how, "with no head of state", "it falls to Harriet Jones to form an emergency government". This didn't happen
until the subsequent episode. Additionally, the Prime Minister is the head of government not the head of state
(which is HM The Queen).

C O N T I N U I T Y
Dr. Sato later reappears in the Torchwood spin-off series, where her full name is revealed as Toshiko Sato (TW:
Everything Changes)

TW: Exit Wounds establishes that she was working undercover for Torchwood during this incident and in fact
her colleague Owen Harper was originally to have done the autopsy. This retroactively makes this the first
appearance of Torchwood in the series.

UNIT makes its first appearance on screen since DW: Battlefield. The Doctor spells out the acronym -- United
Nations Intelligence Taskforce. This would be the final on-screen use of this name, as by the time the full name of
the organisation was uttered again in DW: The Sontaran Stratagem, it has been changed to Unified Intelligence
Taskforce. (Apparently the UN objected to the use of its name in the fictional organisation, even though it had
been used as such since at least 1968).
Mickey notes that he found out on the Internet that the Doctor had worked before for UNIT, among other things. A
notation at WEB: http://www.whoisdoctorwho.co.uk/ implies that Mickey is the one who has been updating Clive Finch's
website since the latter's death in DW: Rose.
The TARDIS was previously defaced with chalk scribblings in DW: The Time Warrior and The Leisure Hive, graffiti
in Paradise Towers and was painted pink in The Happiness Patrol.
The Doctor revisits Albion Hospital in 1941 during DW: The Empty Child and The Doctor Dances.


